THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 28 2022

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No.: 2022-001121

Kadrin Singleton, 335449,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the lower court erred for not finding that defense counsel was ineffective and prejudice resulted when counsel did not properly utilize information given by jurors post trial and move for a new trial.
2. Whether the lower court erred in failing to find that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request voluntary manslaughter instruction and that prejudice resulted.
3. Whether the lower court erred for failing to find that counsel was ineffective and resulting prejudice when counsel did not enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Charleston County Clerk of Court. During the March 2013 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury, he was indicted for murder (2013-GS-10-1153). On January 5, 2015, a trial was conducted in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Megan Ehrlich, Esquire, and Michael Cooper, Esquire. The State was represented by Culver Kidd, Assistant Solicitor. On January 9, 2015, the jury rendered a guilty verdict, and the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington sentenced Petitioner to life.

A timely notice of appeal was filed and was perfected by David Alexander, Esquire. On July 12, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed. *State v. Singleton*, 2017-UP-283 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 12, 2017). Petitioner filed a *pro-se* Petition for Rehearing on August 3, 2017, which was denied via Order filed on September 22, 2017. The Remittitur was issued on January 16, 2018.

An Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed on April 2, 2018. The State submitted a Return and Motion for a More Definite Statement on July 3, 2018. On November 15, 2019, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment.

On January 21, 2020, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Charleston County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire, and Jeremy A. Thompson, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Benjamin Limbaugh, Esquire. Petitioner took the stand and called the following witnesses: Megan Ehrlich, Esquire, Michael Cooper, Esquire, David Alexander, Esquire, Deanne Vane, and Kendra Drayton. Petitioner introduced

eight exhibits. Respondent did not call a witness or mark an exhibit. The court also had before him a copy of the records stemming from Petitioner's underlying trial and appeal.

At the close of the evidentiary hearing, the court allowed time to obtain the evidentiary hearing transcript. Thereafter, the court requested proposed Orders from both parties. An Order of Dismissal was signed on January 7, 2022 and filed on January 10, 2022. Petitioner, through counsel, submitted a timely Motion pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC. Respondent submitted a Return on March 16, 2022. The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson issued an Order denying the Motion on June 30, 2022, which was filed on July 5, 2022. This appeal timely follows.

II. ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Id.* 466 U.S. at 686; *see Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Bell v. State*, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); *see also Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 238 (1989); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- A. The lower court erred for not finding that defense counsel was ineffective and prejudice resulted when counsel did not properly utilize information given by jurors post trial and move for a new trial.

The lower court erred for not finding that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to properly utilize information given by jurors post trial and move for a new trial. By way of the Order of Dismissal, the lower court utilized a majority of the summary of the record and law as set forth in Petitioner's proposed Order, which was noted via Petitioner's Rule 59, SCRCP, Motion, and will be utilized herein. Yet, the lower court found no deficiency or resulting prejudice. Petition submits that the lower court erred in denying relief due to counsel's handling of the issue involving the jurors.

At trial, the State made a successful *Batson* motion, and a second jury was selected. Juror 108 (Kendra Drayton) and Juror 368 (Deanne Vane) were selected on both juries. After closing arguments and the jury charge, the jury was sent out to deliberate at 9:20 a.m. on Friday. App. p. 948. After addressing notes from the jury, the court informed the parties of a 6/6 jury split and her intention to give an *Allen* instruction. App. pp. 949-950. At 1:36 p.m., the jury returned and an *Allen* instruction was given, which

was the focus of the lower court's analysis. The jury was sent out at 1:39 p.m., and the jury returned with their verdict at 4:03 p.m. App. pp. 953, 955. Thereafter, the jury was polled. App. p. 957.

On January 12, 2015, a post-trial motion hearing was conducted. App. p. 973. Defense counsel did not address any matters involving jurors. At the close of the hearing, the court denied all motions made by the defense. App. pp. 989-990.

On January 20, 2015, defense counsel filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence. App. p. 1053. Counsel attached affidavits entitled "Affidavit in Mitigation Rule 28" signed by Ms. Vane and Ms. Drayton. By way of the Motion, reconsideration of Petitioner's sentence was the only relief requested.

On January 23, 2015, the State's Response to Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence was filed. App. p. 1061. On February 9, 2015, the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington issued an Order denying the motion to reconsider. By way of the Order she held: "After review of the case, together with Defendant's Motion and State's Response, the Court finds that the sentence imposed January 9, 2015, shall remain in place and hereby denies Defendant's Motion." App. p. 1065. As the record reflects, the denial of the motion was not raised on appeal.

By way of the Amendment and at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner alleged that counsel was ineffective for the failure to properly utilize information given by jurors post trial and move for a new trial. In regards to this issue, Ms. Ehrlich testified that she was aware that two jurors had reached out to Mr. Cooper after the trial. App. p. 1199. She identified and recalled Mr. Cooper sharing an email from Ms. Drayton with her, and she recalled him being highly annoyed and not understanding why the jurors had convicted if

they had second thoughts so quickly. App. p. 1201. She explained it was common practice in the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office to send out juror questionnaires post trial. She identified and counsel admitted the questionnaires received from Ms. Vane and Ms. Drayton. App. pp. 1201-1203. She addressed the responses contained in the questionnaires and explained that she was not involved in any investigation into the responses or discussion of filing a motion for a new trial. App. pp. 1203-1205.

When asked how she would have responded to the information provided by the jurors if she was lead counsel, she responded that she would have further investigated and would have considered filing a motion for a new trial. App. pp. 1227, 1229. When asked to explain why she would take that course of action, she responded: "Well, I've got two jurors who are saying that they have regrets about their verdict. I, I feel like that could be an appropriate remedy in this situation." App. p. 1227, ln. 25 – p. 1228, ln. 2. She also acknowledged that the jurors "reached out to Mr. Cooper directly after the verdict, and before the, the posttrial motions." App. p. 1228, lns. 9-10.

When Mr. Cooper was on the stand, he acknowledged he handled three murder cases while working as an Assistant Public Defender and that Petitioner's case was the only one with a complete trial. App. p. 1235. He recalled asking Ms. Ehrlich to assist as a second chair three to four weeks before trial. App. p. 1238.

After the verdict, he recalled one juror being visibly upset. App. pp. 1271-1272. He remembered leaving and driving to Greenville for a wedding. App. p. 1272. While driving, a juror called him and informed him that she wanted to change her vote because it was not murder and wanted to know what could be done about it. App. pp. 1272-1273.

He recalled meeting with the jurors at issue and obtaining the affidavits, but he could not remember the specifics. App. p. 1274 He acknowledged that he filed the motion for reconsideration and that he did consider filing a motion for a new trial. App. p. 1274. He explained that he did not file a motion for a new trial since it was his understanding that you cannot impeach a verdict, and he did not consider filing the motion based upon matters of fundamental fairness. App. pp. 1274-1275.

When Ms. Vane was called to the stand, the State entered an objection. App. pp. 1303-1305. In response, counsel explained how the issue developed, provided a copy of the discovery order issued regarding the jurors and referenced the relevant allegations in the Amendment. App. pp. 1306-1307. Counsel argued that juror testimony was relevant to whether counsel was ineffective in how he handled the information he received from the jurors post trial. App. p. 1309. In reliance upon the case law provided to the court and addressed in detail, counsel explained that the majority of the relevant cases utilized a direct appeal analysis, yet in *Shumpert v. State*, 661 S.E.2d 369 (2008), the court indicated that there may be a different standard for admission of juror affidavits or testimony in post conviction relief matters.¹ After addressing Rule 606(b), SCRE, counsel argued that there were exceptions for taking juror testimony on internal jury deliberations such as when matters of fundamental fairness were invoked and to ensure due process. App. p. 1311. Thereafter, the State provided additional argument, and the court noted the State's objection and decided that he would hear the testimony. App. p. 1317.

¹ *State v. Hunter*, 463 S.E.2d 314 (1995), *State v. Pittman*, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007), *Winkler v. State*, 418 S.C. 643 (2016).

Ms. Vane acknowledged that she served as juror 368. App. p. 1318. She recounted how she called trial counsel, answered the questionnaire, met with trial counsel and signed the affidavit. App. pp. 1319-1322. She explained that she reached out to trial counsel immediately after trial because she had a “pit in her stomach the minute I walked out the door,” and she knew that “justice had been neglected.” App. pp. 1320, 1325.

Regarding the questionnaire, she did not recall discussing the information in it with Mr. Cooper. App. p. 1322. When asked about her answer to question nine that there was pressure that caused her to change her verdict, she responded that the pressure in “that room was quite, quite high.” App. p. 1322, lns. 17-24. She further explained that the *Allen* instruction felt like an admonishment and after it was given it was very difficult – she felt like there was no option but to find Petitioner guilty. App. pp. 1322-1323. When asked if it was pressure she put on herself or if it came from the other jurors, she stated:

It was definitely pressure from the rest of it. I think everybody in the, in the – rest of the jury, with one exception, was really ready to go. I heard several different things said in there that, that made me just feel really quite angry about how they were approaching it. Like is – it just didn’t matter almost.

App. p. 1323, lns. 11-18. She explained the psychological pressure she felt from the other jurors and how she let ten others convince her she was wrong. App. pp. 1324-1325. She also explained how Ms. Drayton remained with her until the end and felt the same way she did. She recalled their communication after the trial. App. pp. 1328-1329.

She explained that she believed Petitioner was acting in self-defense in a “drug deal gone bad” and her opinion was not heard by the other jurors and things were said that truly “appalled” her. App. p. 1330, lns. 4-12. She recalled the following statements being made: “they’re both criminals,” “who cares,” and they were “tired of talking about

it.” App. p. 1330, lns. 9-20. She stated that she would have “absolutely” been willing to testify if called in front of Judge Harrington or any other setting and that her testimony was not just something she had just decided to offer years later. App. p. 1332-1333.

On cross-examination when asked if the comments made by the jurors were jurors stating their opinions or if they were directed at her, she responded that she heard things that were not appropriate to a jury discussion and that the comments were directed at her and Ms. Drayton as the last ones holding out. App. pp. 1334-1335. She stated: “That’s not, that’s not justice. You get justice no matter who you are.” App. p. 1335, lns. 2-3.

When Ms. Drayton took the stand, she acknowledged that she served as juror 108. App. p. 1337. She recalled that she was twenty-four going on twenty-five at the time of trial, and she “very nervous” and “super anxious” since she has missed her first jury duty and thought she was going to jail. App. p. 1337. She recalled being on the first jury, and it being more racially split than the second jury. App. pp. 1338-1339. She testified: “The second selection was majority white.” App. p. 1338, ln. 22. She explained that she was “the only black and youngest juror on the second selection.” App. p. 1339, lns. 5-6. She also recalled there being more males on the second jury. App. p. 1339. Regarding her position as the youngest, she recalled: “I felt that my, my input wasn’t as valued as other opponent – well, not other opponents, but other jurors. Like I was looked at being the, the young, naïve one who doesn’t really understand a lot of what’s going on. So, it’s like if – her vote is like not as important as another jurors.” App. p. 1340, lns. 5-10.

After trial, she obtained defense counsel’s email from Ms. Vane and emailed him. App. pp. 1341-1342. When asked her reason for emailing counsel, she responded:

Just after we came out, and they, you know, did the, the verdict, it just – it didn’t sit right with me. Like I, I felt sick to my stomach and like I

remember going back out, and sitting in the juror's area, and like I just held my head down. Like I couldn't look at Kadrin because I knew that I didn't feel that what was happening was right.

App. p. 1342, lns. 7-12. She explained she immediately reached out to counsel because she believed Petitioner was only guilty of defending himself. App. pp. 1342-1343.

Regarding her interaction with defense counsel, she recalled counsel just wanting her to sign the affidavit and not asking any questions. App. p. 1343. She did not recall him asking her whether her age, race, or pressure/coercion were a factor in her changing her vote. App. p. 1343.

When asked about the jury polling process, she responded that she did not understand that she could say no or change her vote at that point. App. p. 1344. Later the court questioned her, and she affirmed that she would have changed her vote when she was polled if she would have known it was an option. App. pp. 1347-1348. After the court's questions, the State asked: "Why do you think you they would ask you if it is still your verdict if you had to answer the same thing that you had before?" App. p. 1349, lns. 3-5. She responded:

Because we had just did that vote in the deliberation room. So, my point where I'm looking at it, is they're asking me if that's what I, what I voted. Maybe during the time of, you know, the, the emotions I had going on, maybe I didn't hear him say is this still your vote. Maybe I wasn't thinking clearly to say, you know, okay, he is asking me is this still my vote so I have the option of changing.

App. p. 1349, lns. 6-12.

On direct, she also addressed the reasons why she changed her vote to guilty after the *Allen* charge. App. pp. 1345-1347. She agreed with Ms. Vane's testimony that jurors made comments about it just being two drug dealers and "why does it matter." App. p. 1345, ln. 22-25. Specifically, she recalled statements about it not mattering that you had

one drug dealer going to jail and one drug dealer that was dead. App. pp. 1345-1346. She also recalled jurors just wanting to conclude deliberations to avoid traffic and get home. App. p. 1346. When asked about the comments, she agreed it was not justice. App. p. 1346. She testified that her unique perspective as a young black female was not valued and that her opinions were being dismissed by the other jurors. App. p. 1346, ln. 23 – p. 1347, ln. 10.

On cross-examination, the State asked her if there was any extraordinary pressure that caused her to change her vote, and she responded:

I would say someone stating that it doesn't matter because one's a drug dealer and other one's dead, that that's a pressure. You basically saying that it's a waste of time to be here, and me arguing that I don't feel that this guy is guilty, you're telling me that it's pointless. Like were even doing this. I felt that that – well, I felt that that's a, a big pressure to be putting on someone when you have just a – at that time, it was probably two to three people who were still holding on to the not guilty verdict, and then you have other people who are just telling you that they want to get it over with, and that they're ready to go home, yeah, I do feel like that's extraordinary pressure to put on someone.

App. p. 1350, ln. 21 – p. 1351, ln. 8. When asked if the statements were truly directed at her, she explained that the statements were being directed at her and that the statements were clearly being made towards the hold-outs, which would include her. App. pp. 1351-1352. She clarified that she never stated that she was threatened but that she was pressured. App. p. 1352, lns. 15-20. When the State called the pressures “normal,” she responded that the pressures were not normal that caused her to change her vote. App. p. 1353, lns. 6-11. She also responded that she was not aware that the foreman could send a note stating that they could not reach a verdict, and she thought that they had to reach a unanimous verdict before they were able to leave. App. p. 1352, ln. 21- p. 1353, ln. 5.

On redirect, Ms. Drayton affirmed that she would have had a more vivid memory of the pressures and what occurred when she spoke with Mr. Cooper, but he did not ask her about it. App. pp. 1354-1355. On direct, she agreed that she would have been willing to testify immediately after trial. App. p. 1345.

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