RECEIVED

Apr 18 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Charleston County
Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001121

KADRIN SINGLETON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Analysis

During trial, the law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). For a lesser-included offense instruction to be warranted, there must be *some* evidence from which the jury could conclude the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 216, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009); see Hopper v. Evans, 456 U.S. 605, 611 (1982) (“[D]ue process requires that a lesser included offense instruction be given *only* when the evidence warrants such an instruction.”).

Voluntary manslaughter is a lesser-included offense of murder. State v. Sims, 426 S.C. 115, 131, 825 S.E.2d 731, 739 (Ct. App. 2019). That offense is defined as “the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon a sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 104, 64 S.E.2d 130, 134 (1951). For a killing to constitute voluntary manslaughter, both heat of passion *and* sufficient legal provocation must exist at the time of the killing, and the heat of passion must result from the legal provocation. State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596-597, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010). Significantly, sudden heat of passion resulting from sufficient legal provocation “must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011).

In his petition for a writ of certiorari, Singleton contends the PCR judge erred by refusing to grant relief based on defense counsel's failure to request a voluntary manslaughter charge.

However, to the contrary, Singleton—just as the PCR judge correctly found—wholly failed to meet his burden of establishing either deficiency or prejudice in regard to defense counsel’s failure to request a voluntary manslaughter charge because such a charge was not supported by the evidence and testimony presented, including Singleton’s own.

Even when viewed in a light most favorable to Singleton, what was presented during trial did not support a finding of either of the required elements of voluntary manslaughter. Turning to the “sudden heat of passion” element, Singleton’s own testimony established he was in fear, did not want to shoot Victim, and only did so to save his own life. Significantly though, such testimony did *not* establish Singleton lost control and was acting pursuant to an uncontrollable impulse to do violence as necessary for the “sudden heat of passion” element to be satisfied. See Starnes, 388 S.C. at 598, 698 S.E.2d at 609 (instructing “the presence of fear does not end the inquiry regarding the propriety of a voluntary manslaughter instruction”); cf. Cook v. State, 415 S.C. 551, 558, 784 S.E.2d 665, 668 (2015) (concluding Cook’s statement “before I knew it, I fired a shot” was not “indicative as to whether Cook was acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence” and, thus, did not support a jury instruction on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter); Sims, 426 S.C. at 138-139, 825 S.E.2d at 743 (“While Sims acknowledged that she shot out of fear, she never indicated that she lost control or was overcome with an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. . . . [W]e find the only evidence in the record is that Sims deliberately and intentionally shot David and that she either shot him with malice aforethought or in self-defense.” (citations omitted)). Meanwhile, turning to the “sufficient legal provocation” element, Singleton’s testimony established he fired the fatal shots in response to Victim charging at him, but, critically, Victim only was doing so because Singleton first grabbed a gun off the bar, pointed it Victim, and used it to make demands of Victim at gunpoint. In light

of that, Singleton provoked Victim’s response and, therefore, could not validly rely upon that provoked response to satisfy the “sufficient legal provocation” element. See State v. Tyson, 283 S.C. 375, 379, 323 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1984) (explaining resistance from a victim does *not* qualify as a sufficient legal provocation); cf. State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 171, 478 S.E.2d 260, 269 (1996) (concluding evidence the victim tried to grab Tucker’s gun before he shot her did not establish “sufficient legal provocation” because she was only trying to defend herself from him).

Therefore, since the evidence and testimony did not establish the existence of all the required elements of voluntary manslaughter, such a charge was not warranted in Singleton’s case. See State v. Rocheville, 310 S.C. 20, 26, 425 S.E.2d 32, 36 (1993) (“Both legal provocation and heat of passion are required.”). Accordingly, just as the PCR judge correctly concluded, defense counsel was not and could not have been constitutionally ineffective for failing to request an unwarranted jury instruction. Cf. Mayo v. State, 347 S.C. 422, 426, 556 S.E.2d 380, 382 (2001) (holding a PCR judge’s grant of relief based on defense counsel’s failure to raise an objection to be without factual support where “there was no sustainable objection” defense counsel could have made).

C. The PCR judge correctly concluded Singleton failed to meet his burden of establishing defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the trial judge’s jury charge on malice because—when considered as a whole—the jury instructions presented were sufficient to ensure the jurors would not have interpreted or applied them in an unconstitutional or improper manner.

Relevant Facts

During Singleton’s trial, the trial judge—as part of her jury charge—explained to the jury Singleton was presumed innocent, emphasized Singleton had no burden to prove his innocence, made clear the burden of proof rested solely on the State, and instructed the State was required to prove Singleton’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in order for him to be convicted. (App’x pp.

936-939). Likewise, the trial judge explained the jurors were the sole judges of the facts, indicated the determination of the facts was solely a matter for them, and made clear the jurors were free with *any* evidence to give it the weight they thought it deserved. (App’x p. 936; p. 941). Furthermore, the trial judge explained intent was “always” a matter to be determined by the jury, it was “up to them” to determine Singleton’s intent, and intent could be established via inference like any other fact, which she indicated simply meant taking into consideration the acts of the parties along with all the facts and circumstances of the case. (App’x pp. 941-942). Following that, the trial judge instructed the jury on the elements of murder, including the malice element. (App’x pp. 942-942). In doing so, the trial judge—without objection—explained:

Malice aforethought may be express or inferred. These terms express and inferred do not mean different kinds of malice but merely mean the manner in which the malice may be shown to exist. That is either by direct evidence or by inference from the facts and circumstances which are proved.

Express malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished. For example, acts of preparation going to show that the deed was within the defendant’s mind would be express malice. Malice *may* be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life.

(App’x p. 943; p. 948) (emphasis added).

Later on, during the PCR proceedings, Singleton raised an allegation defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial judge’s malice jury instruction based on the purported absence of general permissive inference language. (App’x p. 1187). During the course of the ensuing evidentiary hearing, Singleton’s defense counsel confirmed no objections were raised to the trial judge’s jury charge on malice, including based on the supposed absence of language concerning permissive inferences. (App’x pp. 1204-1205; pp. 1269).

Ultimately, upon considering the matter, the PCR judge declined to grant relief. (App’x pp. 1446-1447; p. 1452). In refusing to do so, the PCR judge determined Singleton’s case was

distinguishable from State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 308 S.E.2d 781 (1983), since that case specifically addressed an instruction on inferring malice from the use of deadly weapon, which was *not* given during Singleton's trial. (App'x p. 1447). Based on that, the trial judge found no further language was necessary for the charge given in Singleton's case to be sufficient and, thus, defense counsel was not deficient for failing to object. (App'x p. 1447). Furthermore, even assuming more language was appropriate, the PCR judge found Singleton was still not prejudiced by its absence due to the information conveyed by the trial judge's jury instructions as a whole. (App'x p. 1447; p. 1513). Accordingly, the PCR judge concluded Singleton failed to establish defense counsel's performance was deficient and the result of the proceedings would have been different had defense counsel objected to the malice charge. (App'x p. 1447; p. 1513).

Analysis

When instructing the jury on the law, a trial judge is required to charge the jury on the current and correct South Carolina law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003). In doing so, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does not have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). Importantly, so long as the trial judge's jury instructions are substantially correct and adequately cover the applicable law, those instructions are considered to be appropriate and not erroneous. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996).

When reviewing the propriety of a trial judge's jury charge, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal of a conviction is not justified or

warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); see also Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) (“[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial.”).

In his petition for a writ of certiorari, Singleton contends the PCR judge erred by failing to find defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the trial judge’s jury charge on malice due to the absence of general permissive inference language. However, to the contrary, Singleton—just as the PCR judge correctly found—did not meet his burden of establishing either deficiency or prejudice concerning defense counsel’s failure to object to the malice charge when the jury instructions are considered as a whole as required.

Looking to the specific jury instructions presented in Singleton’s case, the trial judge’s malice instruction did *not* include any language on malice arising or being inferred from the use of a deadly weapon as occurred in Elmore. Cf. State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 421, 308 S.E.2d 781, 784 (1983), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (“[Elmore] . . . argues that the trial judge’s instruction on the presumption of malice *from the use of a deadly weapon* constituted a mandatory presumption rather than a permissive inference. We agree.” (emphasis added)). Meanwhile, the brief portion of malice charge dealing with inferring malice from conduct showing a total disregard for human life made clear from the language employed such an inference only *may* be inferred—as opposed to must be presumed—from such conduct. See State v. Peterson, 287 S.C. 244, 247, 335 S.E.2d 800, 802 (1985) (explaining terms such as “might infer” and “may be presumed” denote a permissive inference), overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019); cf. Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 506, 657 S.E.2d 760, 764 (2008) (concluding a malice jury instruction

was improper and burden-shifting because it “contained no permissive language indicating that the jury *may* infer malice from Petitioner’s participation in the armed robbery”). Beyond that, both the trial judge’s malice charge itself and immediately-preceding intent charge included language making clear inferences regarding the defendant’s mental state were dependent on the facts and circumstances involved while the rest of the trial judge’s jury instructions properly explained to the jury the State alone possessed the burden of proof, the defendant was not required to prove anything, determining the facts of the case was solely a matter for the jurors, and they were free to give *any* evidence presented the weight they thought it deserved. See Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) (explaining jury instructions must be viewed as a whole and not in isolation when determining their propriety); cf. Gibson v. State, 416 S.C. 260, 265, 786 S.E.2d 121, 124 (2016) (concluding the presence of “dependent upon the facts and circumstances” language was not sufficient to cure an error in the omission of permissive inference language from a charge on inferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon because the “dependent upon the facts and circumstances” language was *not* tied to inferring malice but, instead, was tied to determining whether an instrument was used as a deadly weapon). Resultantly, while the trial judge did not bolster her malice charge with additional language specifically stating the jury was free to accept or reject an inference, the jury could not have reasonably interpreted and applied the malice charge given in an unconstitutional or improper manner when considering the instructions presented as a whole as required. See Lowry, 376 S.C. at 506, 657 S.E.2d at 764 (“The relevant inquiry for the Court . . . is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution.”); cf. State v. Norris, 285 S.C. 86, 91, 328 S.E.2d 339, 342 (1985) (holding a jury charge solely indicating the jury was allowed to infer malice if the homicide was

the direct result of the commission of a felony and could imply malice if the person was committing a felony at the time of the fatal blow was not inadequate or improper since it made clear malice could be inferred—as opposed to would be presumed—from the commission of a felony and, thus, “could not reasonably have been understood by the jury as shifting the burden of proof to [the defendant] to disprove malice or the implication of malice”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 80 (2009).

Because the trial judge’s jury instructions as a whole properly conveyed the law, were not burden-shifting, and made clear any inferences referenced were permissive as opposed to mandatory, the PCR judge correctly declined to find defense counsel was ineffective for failing to raise an objection based on the absence of additional permissive inference language because the charge given was sufficient with or without such language and there was no reasonable likelihood the result of the proceedings would have been different but for defense counsel’s failure to so object. See Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (explaining a petitioner must prove defense counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different but for counsel’s conduct in order to be entitled to post-conviction relief); see also Dunn v. Reeves, ___ U.S. ___, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (“[E]ven if there is reason to think that counsel’s conduct was far from exemplary, a court still may not grant relief if the record does not reveal that counsel took an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen.” (citation, internal quotations, and brackets in original omitted)). Singleton’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.


CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.